

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Organometallic Chemistry 690 (2005) 5430-5440

www.elsevier.com/locate/jorganchem

Review

Carbene ligands in diiron complexes $\stackrel{\text{\tiny theta}}{\to}$

Luigi Busetto *, Valerio Zanotti

Dipartimento di Chimica Fisica ed Inorganica, Università di Bologna, Viale Risorgimento 4, I-40136 Bologna, Italy

Received 14 June 2005; accepted 7 July 2005 Available online 22 August 2005

Abstract

The diiron frame $Fe_2Cp_2CO_2$ allows the coordination of a variety of carbene ligands, including heteroatom substituted (Fischer type) and alkylidenes, in both bridging and terminal coordination modes. Synthetic strategies have been devised for obtaining aminocarbenes and thiocarbenes, by nucleophilic addition on the corresponding bridging amino- and thio-carbyne cationic complexes $[Fe_2(\mu-CX)(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ (X = SMe, NMe₂, N(Me)Xyl), respectively. A more general approach to the synthesis of diiron complexes bridged by carbenes, exploits the electrophilic character of the sulphonium complex $[Fe_2\{\mu-C(CN)-(SMe_2)\}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ and the *facile* displacement of the SMe₂ moiety by nucleophiles. These methods afford a large variety of heteroatom (N, P, O, S) substituted carbene complexes and also μ -alkylidenes.

Terminally bonded alkynyl methoxy carbene complexes have been obtained by the classical Fischer method, consisting in nucleophilic addition at a terminal CO, to generate an acyl intermediate, followed by oxygen atom methylation. The coordination to diiron cationic complexes makes the alkynylmethoxy carbene ligands very reactive towards the addition of nucleophiles, like amines and carbanions. These additions are regio- and stereoselective, occurring exclusively at the alkynyl moiety.

Finally, new multidentate and functionalized bridging ligands are described. They are anchored to the diiron frame through an aminocarbene, or an alkylidene binding end, or both. These ligands result from intramolecular couplings and rearrangements which involve the μ -aminocarbyne, the terminally bonded nitrile ligands and acetylides.

© 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Carbene; Carbyne; Diiron complexes; Bridging ligands

Contents

1.	Introduction	5431
2.	Dinuclear complexes with bridging Fischer carbene ligands	5431
	2.1. Synthesis from bridging carbyne complexes	5431
	2.2. Syntheses from μ-sulphonium alkylidene.	5433
3.	Dinuclear complexes with terminal Fischer carbene ligands	5434
4.	Dinuclear complexes bearing multidentate aminocarbene ligands	5435
5.	Bridging bis-carbene complexes	5437
6.	Conclusions	5438
	Acknowledgements	5438
	References	5438

* This work is a contribution for the special issue on 'Transition Metal Carbene Complexes'.
 * Corresponding author. Tel.: +390512093694; fax: +390512093690.
 E-mail addresses: busetto@ms.fci.unibo.it (L. Busetto), zanotti@ms.fci.unibo.it (V. Zanotti).

Since the first tungsten(0) carbene complex reported by Fischer and Maasböl in [1], transition metal carbene complexes have experienced a rapid and enormous development which has been paralleled by applications in organic synthesis [2] and catalysis [3]. Both heteroatom stabilized carbenes (Fischer) and electrophilic (Schrock) [4] carbenes are considered among the most versatile organometallic reagents.

1. Introduction

The overwhelming majority of carbene complexes are mononuclear and investigations concerning di- and polymetallic carbene complexes have been considerably more limited [5]. However, they represent an area of growing interest in the development of new reagents and catalysts because of the potential advantage of cooperative effects due to the presence of two, or more, metal atoms [6]. An additional reason which makes attractive the studies on dinuclear complexes derives from the possibility of favouring further coordination modes for the carbene ligands, which in turn, are expected to produce a considerable extension and modification of their reactivity. As an example, Sierra has recently reviewed [5] on the different mode, for a heteroatom substituted metal carbene (Fischer type carbenes) to join a second metal atom. As shown in Chart 1, the bond, which can be direct or mediated by an hydrocarbon chain, may occur through: (i) the carbene carbon (I); (ii) the heteroatom (II); (iii) the metal atom (III). In addition, carbenes can 'bridge' two metal atoms (IV), and Fischer carbenes may assume a further coordination mode (V) due to the heteroatom-metal interaction, which is believed to contribute significantly to their stability [7].

Bridging carbenes are usually more stable, and less reactive compared to the corresponding terminally coordinated species. Notwithstanding this, they have been intensively investigated, and in particular complexes bearing the bridging methylidene (μ -CH₂) have provided valuable organometallic models for investigating Fischer–Tropsch processes [8].

Herein we will briefly review our contribution in the field of the dinuclear complexes containing carbene ligands, both bridging and terminally coordinated.

2. Dinuclear complexes with bridging Fischer carbene ligands

2.1. Synthesis from bridging carbyne complexes

Several methods have been devised for the synthesis of bridging carbenes; among them, the outstanding contributions of F.G.A. Stone have to be recognized [9] for his modular approach to the construction of clusters with bridging carbenes and carbynes, and the fruitful use of isolobal analogy concepts [10]. The reaction of mononuclear carbynes with appropriate metal containing nucleophiles or metal hydrides is still a useful route for synthesis of bridging carbene complexes [11]. Bridging carbynes are also good source of µ-carbenes: a significant example concern the bridging methylidyne complex $[Fe_2(\mu-CH)(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2]^+$, which has been studied in details over more than a decade by Casey et al. [12]. The relevant electrophilic character of the μ -CH ligand allows a large variety of nucleophilic additions at the bridging carbon, including the remarkable 'hydrocarbation' [13] and provide access to a variety of bridging carbene complexes.

Several years ago our attention was directed to related diiron complexes characterized by the presence of heteroatom substituted bridging carbyne ligands: the thiocarbyne $[Fe_2(\mu-CSMe)(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ (1) [14] and aminocarbyne $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(Me)R\}(\mu-CO)-(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ (R = Me, CH₂Ph, Xyl) (2) [15]. Our aim was to find methods for generating Fischer type bridging thio- and amino-carbene complexes and to study their chemistry.

The thiocarbyne complex 1 undergoes addition at the bridging carbyne carbon by a variety of nucleophilic regents, including: NaBH₄ [16], cyanide [17], and several organocopper reagents [18] (Scheme 1). In all the cases,



the reaction products are the expected bridging thiocarbene complexes, which frequently exhibit S-Fe interaction (e.g., **4**). This latter coordination mode is promoted by loss of CO, easily achieved under photolytic conditions.

It should be noted that not all the nucleophilic reagents attack exclusively the bridging carbon; thus, the reaction pathway shown in Scheme 1 lacks of general character. Indeed, other organometallic reagents (e.g., Grignard reagents or lithium acetylides) give selective additions at the Cp or at the CO, rather than reacting with the carbyne ligand [18]. However, even in these cases, the bridging thiocarbyne does not act as a simple spectator ligand, but is involved in intramolecular rearrangements, which ultimately afford stable bridging thiocarbene complexes. As an example, the addition of Grignard reagents (RMgCl; R = allyl, Ph, CH₂Ph, Pr¹) to the Cp ligands of 1 leads to the formation of the cyclopentadiene compounds $[Fe_2(\mu-CSMe)(\mu-CO)(CO)_2 (C_5H_5R)(Cp)$] (5) which, in turn, undergo hydride migration from cyclopentadiene to the µ-carbyne carbon, affording the μ -thiocarbene 6 (Scheme 2) [18,19]. Likewise, nucleophilic attacks at the terminally coordinated CO are followed by acyl migration to generate the μ -thiocarbene complexes [Fe₂{ μ -C(SMe)COR}- $(\mu$ -CO)(CO)(Cp)₂] (7) (Scheme 2) [18].

The aminocarbyne complex $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(R)Me\}-(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ (2) (R = Me, CH₂Ph, Xyl) exhibits a chemistry which parallels that of 1. However, additions of nucleophiles (R') to the carbyne carbon, to generate bridging aminocarbene complexes $[Fe_2\{\mu-C\cdot(R')N(R)Me\}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2]$ were limited to the reactions with NaBH₄ (H⁻ addition) and NBu₄CN (CN⁻ addition) (Scheme 3) [20]. Carbon nucleophiles, like organo-lithium and Grignard reagents, have been shown to attack regioselectively the Cp, whereas organocopper reagents selectively react at the CO [21]. Moreover, the compounds thus formed: the cyclopentadiene complexes $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(R)Me\}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2-$



 $(C_5H_5R)(Cp)$] and acyl complexes $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(R)-Me\}(\mu-CO)(CO)(COR)(Cp)_2]$, respectively, have been proved very stable, and did not undergo any of the rearrangements observed in the case of the thiocarbyne analogues.

A possible explanation of the lower reactivity of the aminocarbyne ligand is the strong π -interaction between the N atom and the carbyne carbon, which contains a significant amount of double bond character, as shown by diffraction studies on a variety of complexes [21,22]. Therefore, aminocarbynes **2** do not provide a general entry to the synthesis of the corresponding bridging aminocarbene complexes.

The synthetic approach depicted in Scheme 3, although limited to the cyanide and hydride addition, has been successfully employed to introduce a second bridging aminocarbene ligand. Thus, compound **8** (Chart 2) has been obtained by using a stepwise







Scheme 2.

sequence consisting in alkylation of an isocyanide ligand, to generate an aminocarbyne, followed by $CN^$ addition [23].

A similar approach has been also applied to the synthesis of a double bridging thiocarbene complex **9** (Chart 2), starting from the bis- μ -thiocarbonyl complex [Fe₂(μ -CS)₂(CO)₂(Cp)₂] [24].

2.2. Syntheses from μ -sulphonium alkylidene

A more effective approach to the synthesis of bridging aminocarbene complexes has been provided by the sulphonium carbenes $[Fe_2{\mu-C(R)(SMe_2)}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2-(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ (R = H (10a), R = CN (10b)), (Chart 3), which in turn, have been generated from the S-methylation of the thiocarbene parent complexes $[Fe_2-{\mu-C(R)(SMe)}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2]$ [25].

Complexes **10a–b** have been shown to act as a precursors of a large variety of aminocarbene complexes via the *facile* displacement of SMe_2 by secondary amines [20,25a] (Scheme 4).

This successful synthesis led to the observation that aminocarbene ligands can easily switch their coordination mode from bridging to terminal. This is possible because, within the $Fe_2(CO)_2Cp_2$ frame, CO and carbene ligands are fluxional and can easily exchange their coordination positions (Scheme 4). Thus, the amino carbene ligands preferentially adopt the terminal coordination in the presence of rather hindered nitrogen substituents (steric factors). Conversely, electron withdrawing substituents on the carbene carbon (e.g., cyanide) provide stabilization to the bridging coordination. Indeed, cyano-aminocarbene complexes have been found predominantly bridging. The sulphonium derivatives 10a-b also provide access to μ -alkoxy carbenes, since the SMe₂ fragment is easily displaced by alcohols. A variety of bridging alkoxy carbene diiron complexes have been prepared by this route (Chart 4, 12) [26]; the carbene ligand steadily occupy the bridging coordination and do not show any tendency to exchange with the terminal CO.

Bridging phosphino carbene complexes have been analogously obtained by reaction of 10a-b with phosphanes (HPR'R") in the presence of NEt₃ (Scheme 5) [27]. The reactions generate phosphonium intermediates 13, which are deprotonated by NEt₃ to form the bridging phosphino carbene complexes 14. This is a remarkable result in view of the fact that Fischer type carbene ligands containing P as heteroatom are still rather uncommon, particularly in the bridging coordination [28]. In spite of recent results in the synthesis of stable free phosphino carbenes and in their direct complexation [29], these species show some reluctance to act as ligands [30]. Therefore, any possible approach to the synthesis of phosphino carbene complexes is of interest.

Heteroatoms provide stabilization to the electrophilic carbene carbon by π -donation. As expected, P is a less efficient π -donor respect to O or N. The consequence is that phosphino carbenes are easily alkylated or protonated at the P atom generating stable phosphonium complexes. It is also to be mentioned that the phosphino carbene complexes **14** adopt a bridging coordination without any exchange with terminal CO.

Finally, **10a–b** are also precursors of bridging alkylidene complexes **15** and **16**, arising form displacement of



Scheme 4







SMe₂ by carbon nucleophiles (Chart 5). These latter include: organocopper reagents $\text{LiCu}(\text{CN})\text{R}'_2$ (R' = Me, Bu, Ph, C=CC₆H₅Me, C₄H₃S) and carbanions derived from methyl or ethyl malonate, ethylacetoacetate, 2,4pentanedione, dibenzoylmethane and benzylcyanide [31].

3. Dinuclear complexes with terminal Fischer carbene ligands

The synthesis of diiron complexes containing terminally bonded alkoxy carbene ligands has been accomplished following the classical Fischer procedure, consisting in a nucleophilic attack at a CO ligand to form an acyl intermediate, which is subsequently methylated at the oxygen atom. In particular our attention has been attracted by alkynyl alkoxycarbene ligands, because they exhibit a versatile chemistry, with interesting application in organic synthesis [2f,32]. In particular, alkynylcarbenes easily participate in a number of cycloaddition reactions [33] and also undergo Michael addition with a variety of protic nucleophiles [32]. Diiron alkynyl methoxy carbenes 17 have been obtained starting from the aminocarbyne complexes 2, taking advantage of the demonstrated regioselective addition of acetylides to the CO ligand (Scheme 6).

Reactions of **17** with primary and secondary amines have been described [34]: by contrast with the corresponding reactions of mononuclear chromium and tungsten alkynyl alkoxy carbene complexes (CO)₅- $M=C(OEt)C\equivCR$, which undergo 'aminolysis' and generate aminocarbene compounds [35], amines give selective addition at the alkynyl moiety of **17**. The coordination of the alkynyl carbene to a cationic diiron frame result in a enhanced electrophilic character and explains the observed regioselective additions. Moreover, the reactions are stereoselective and exclusively produce *cis*-addition at the multiple bond, as found in the reactions with HNMe₂ affording the alkoxycarbene complexes **18** (Scheme 7).

Primary amines (H₂NR'), both aliphatic and aromatic, react analogously leading to the formation of 4-(NH-amino)-1-metalla-1,3-diene complexes $[Fe_2{\mu-CN(Me)(Xyl)}(\mu-CO)(CO){C(OMe)CH=C(R)(NHR')}-(Cp)_2]$ (19).

Attempts to promote intramolecular couplings between the carbene and the carbyne ligands, aimed at further increasing the complexity of the coordinated organic fragment, have been proved unsuccessful. However, deprotonation of **19** was found to occur at the nitrogen atom to generate the unusual vinyl complexes **20**, (Scheme 8) [34].

The reactions of 17 with carbon nucleophiles (carbanions of the type CHR_2^- , R = CN, COOMe) have been







Scheme 9.

21

R = CN, COOMe

17

also investigated. Similarly to the reactions with amines, these reagents attack the alkynyl moiety yielding the dienyl complexes $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(Me)(Xyl)\}(\mu-CO)(CO)\{C(O-Me)C(H)C(Tol)(CR_2)\}(Cp)_2]$ (21) (Scheme 9).

4. Dinuclear complexes bearing multidentate aminocarbene ligands

Recently, we have described the synthesis of diiron complexes with bridging multidentate ligands in which one of the biting ends show diaminocarbene character (Chart 6, compounds **22** [36] and **23** [37]).

The complex **22** contains a bridging allenyl-diaminocarbene ligand: the allenyl moiety bridges the Fe atoms in a μ - η^1 , η^3 fashion, whereas the diaminocarbene is terminally bonded, which corresponds, as above discussed, to the favourite coordination mode for this type of ligand. Likewise, the complex [Fe₂{ μ - η^1 ; η^2 -C=C(Tol)-C(Ph)₂N(H)CN(Me)(Xyl)}(μ -CO)(CO)(Cp₂)] (**23**), contains a ligand which is anchored to a single Fe atom through a diaminocarbene moiety, whereas is bridging throughout a vinylidene.



Compound 22 is the result of a rather unusual rearrangement and intramolecular coupling which involve the bridging aminocarbyne, the terminal trimethyl acetonitrile ligand and an acetylide LiC=CR reagent (Scheme 10).

The reaction sequence is still not established, although plausible hypothesis has been presented [36]. These indicate that the diamino carbene is formed by coupling between the bridging aminocarbyne and a terminally coordinated azavynilidene intermediate, generated from acetylide attack at the trimethylacetonitrile



Scheme 10.



Scheme 11.

ligand (Scheme 11). The diaminocarbene thus formed, shifts from the bridging to the terminal position. At the end, coordination of the alkynyl group to the unsaturated Fe atom and protonation of the iminic nitrogen lead to **22**.

The reaction which yields 23, containing a μ -vinylidene-diaminocarbene ligand, presents many analogies to that above described: it occurs between the imine complex [Fe₂{ μ -CN(Me)R}(μ -CO)(CO)(HN=CPh₂)-(Cp)₂][SO₃CF₃] and *p*-tolylacetylide (Scheme 12).

Again, an azavinylidene intermediate ligand is presumably generated, in this case via deprotonation of the coordinated imine HNC=CPh₂. The azavinilydene intermediate migrates to the μ -aminocarbyne, affording the diaminocarbene moiety. Subsequent coordination of the acetylide and intramolecular coupling explain the formation of **23** as summarized in Scheme 13.

The multidentate bridging ligands in 22 and 23 contain a terminally coordinated diaminocarbene moiety, originated from a bridging aminocarbyne. The σ -donor properties of the diaminocarbene moiety is expected to be similar to those of related NHC (*N*heterocyclic carbene ligands) [38] and, therefore, strongly contributing to the overall stability of the complexes 22 and 23.

Unfortunately, the reactions leading to 22 and 23 are not of general character: different results have been observed changing the nature of the acetylide regent or the coordinated nitrile. Nevertheless, the overall sequences described in Schemes 11 and 13 indicate that intramolecular coupling between the μ -carbyne and terminally coordinated ligands represent an efficient route to promote additions at the bridging carbyne carbon, otherwise difficult to obtain by direct nucleophilic attack.



This point is well exemplified by the reactions of the amino carbyne with alkynes: the aminocarbyne complexes $[Fe_2\{\mu-CN(Me)R\}(\mu-CO)(CO)_2(Cp)_2][SO_3CF_3]$ $(R = Me, CH_2Ph, Xyl)$ (2) do not react with alkynes, whereas their acetonitrile derivatives [Fe2{µ-CN-(Me)R {(μ -CO)(CO)(NCMe)(Cp)₂ [[SO₃CF₃] (**24**) promptly undergo alkyne insertion (HC \equiv CR') (R' = SiMe₃, Me, Buⁿ, p-Tol, Ph, H) into one of the metal carbyne carbon, affording bridging vinyliminium compounds $[Fe_2\{\mu-\eta^1:\eta^3-C(R')=CHC=N(Me)(R)\}(\mu-CO)(CO)-$ (Cp)₂][SO₃CF₃] (25) (Scheme 14) [39]. The presence of a labile MeCN ligand in 24 allows alkyne coordination. Thus the insertion is very likely, the result of an intramolecular coupling between the μ -carbyne and the activated alkyne ligand. The reaction is of general applicability: both primary alkynes and disubstituted



Scheme 12.



Scheme 14.



acetylenes (R'C=CR'; R' = R" = COOMe, Ph, Me, Et; R'C=CR", R' = Me, R" = Prⁱ) insert in the metal carbyne bond affording the corresponding vinyliminium complexes [Fe₂{ μ - η ¹: η ³-C(R')=C(R")C=N(Me)(R)}-(μ -CO)(CO)(Cp)₂][SO₃CF₃] in high yield [39]. Moreover, the insertion of primary alkynes is regiospecific: the C-C bond formation selectively occurs between the carbyne carbon and the CH moiety of the alkyne (Scheme 14).

The bridging ligand resulting from alkyne insertion has been considered a μ - $\eta^1 \eta^3$ -vinyliminium. However, alternative descriptions are possible and structural and spectroscopic data have evidenced that iminium moiety display some aminocarbene character [39] (Chart 7B). In other words, the bonding mode assumed by the bridging vinyliminium shows some analogies with those described for the complexes **22** and **23**, since it consists of an unsaturated hydrocarbyl moiety bridging the two Fe atoms and an aminocarbene part, terminally coordinated.

The aminocarbene character of the vinyliminium ligand becomes more evident upon modification due to nucleophilic addition, which is described in the following paragraph.

5. Bridging bis-carbene complexes

The bridging vinyliminium ligand in **25** has been shown to react with NaBH₄ to give hydride addition [40]. The latter occurs selectively at the iminium carbon, or at the adjacent C_β, depending on the substituents at the iminium nitrogen (Scheme 15). When R = Me, hydride attack occurs at the iminium, affording the vinylalkylidene complexes [Fe₂{ μ - η^1 : η^3 -C(R')CH= CHNMe₂}(μ -CO)(CO)(Cp)₂] (**26**). By contrast, when the iminium carbon (C_α) is sterically protected by the more hindering Xyl substituent, addition is directed to C_β, yielding the bis-alkylidene complexes [Fe₂{ μ - η^1 : η^2 -C(R')CH₂CN(Me)(Xyl)}(μ -CO)(CO)(Cp)₂] (**27**) [40].

In both cases, hydride addition changes the nature and coordination mode of the bridging ligand and induces the C_{γ} carbon to assume a bridging carbene char-



Scheme 15.

acter. Conversely, changes in the nature of the C_{α} and C_{β} depend upon the site of hydride attack. Addition at the C_{α} carbon generate type **26** complexes which can be appropriately described as bridging vinylcarbenes. The resulting μ - η^1 , η^3 coordination mode is quite common among dinuclear complexes [41], including diiron compounds [42]. On the other hand, the addition on the C_{β} carbon gives the complex **27** with loss of interaction between the Fe atoms and C_{β} . The bridging ligand remains anchored to the Fe–Fe through the C_{α} and C_{γ} , which assume the nature of aminocarbene and bridging alkylidene, respectively. Again, the multidentate ligand adopts the more stable coordination mode with the aminocarbene moiety terminally coordinated and the alkylidene bridging.

Moreover, it has been shown that the C_{β} -H in 25 is acidic and can be removed upon treatment with NaH [43]. This observation is in agreement with the aminocarbene character of the ligand, since C-H hydrogen, adjacent to Fischer carbenes, are known to be acidic [44]. C_β-H proton removal generates unstable and reactive intermediate species whose nature has not been demonstrated. One possibility is that the deprotonated species assumes the bis-carbene coordination as in 27. This is suggested by the observation that one of the products of the deprotonation is the tetranuclear complex 28 (Chart 8), clearly derived from the dimerization of two deprotonated vinyliminium ligands. Interestingly, the organic fragment $[C_{\alpha}N(Me)(R)C_{\beta}C_{\gamma}(R')]_2$ is coordinated to two $[Fe_2Cp_2(CO)_2]$ units through four 'biting ends' exclusively made of terminal and bridging carbene ligands.

Analogous dimerizations, consequent to deprotonation, have been reported for some alkoxy- and aminocarbene complexes, which undergo oxidative coupling to give bridging bis-carbene complexes in an overall reaction described as "dehydrodimerization" [45].



6. Conclusions

Diiron complexes characterized by the $Fe_2Cp_2(CO)_2$ frame represent an efficient support for the coordination a variety of carbene ligands, both bridging and terminal. Synthetic methods have been developed for obtaining Fischer type carbenes based on the electrophilic character of the carbyne ligands (μ -CNR₂ and μ -CSMe) or sulphonium methylidene [μ -C(CN)(SMe₂)]. Their stability and the preferential site mode of coordination (terminal or bridging) depend on the nature of the heteroatom (N, P, O, S); indeed the aminocarbenes appear to be the more stable and preferentially adopt a terminal coordination.

Alternatively, the classical Fischer method, consisting in nucleophilic addition at a terminal CO to generate an acyl intermediate followed by oxygen atom methylation, provides access to terminally bonded alkoxycarbene ligands.

In addition, carbenes can be generated by intramolecular couplings and rearrangements of ligands coordinated to the diiron frame. In particular, bridging aminocarbyne complexes containing nitrile or imine ligands react with alkynes or acetylides affording new and unusual organic molecules, exhibiting an aminocarbene and/or an alkylidene biting end.

Noteworthy, diiron complexes display an important role in metal assisted synthesis of highly functionalized organic molecules, by promoting nucleophilic addition and intramolecular couplings of coordinated ligands. Moreover, metal coordination offer regio and stereo control on most of these reactions. The bimetallic frame also provide stabilization to the organic species thus generated, by means of a variety of coordination modes in which carbene ligands are dominant.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Ministero dell'Universitàe della Ricerca Scientifica e Tecnologica (M.I.U.R.) (project: 'New strategies for the control of reactions: interactions of molecular fragments with metallic sites in unconventional species') and the University of Bologna ('Funds for Selected Research Topics') for financial support.

References

- E.O. Fischer, A. Maasböl, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 3 (1964) 580.
- [2] Some recent reviews include: (a) M. Gomez-Gallego, M.J. Mancheno, M.A. Sierra, Acc. Chem. Res. 38 (2005) 44;
 (b) J. Barluenga, J. Santamaria, M. Tomas, Chem. Rev. 104 (2004) 2259;
 - (c) J.W. Herndon, Coord. Chem. Rev. 243 (2003) 3;
 - (d) J. Barluenga, Pure Appl. Chem. 74 (2002) 1317;
 - (e) C.F. Bernasconi, Adv. Phys. Org. Chem. 37 (2002) 137;
 - (f) A. De Meijere, H. Schirmer, M. Deutsch, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 39 (2000) 3964;
 - (g) K.H. Dötz, P. Tomuschat, Chem. Soc. Rev. 28 (1999) 187;
 - (h) D.F. Harvey, D. Sigano, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 271;
 - (i) J. Bertrand (Ed.)J. Organomet. Chem. 617–618 (2001), special issue on transition metal carbene complexes.
- [3] Some recent reviews include: (a) R.H. Grubbs, Tetrahedron 60 (2004) 7117;
 - (b) S.J. Connon, S. Blechert, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 42 (2003) 1900;
 - (c) W.A. Herrmann, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 41 (2002) 1290;
 (d) T.M. Trnka, R.H. Grubbs, Acc. Chem. Res. 34 (2001) 18;
 - (e) A. Furstner, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 39 (2000) 3012.
- [4] (a) R.R. Schrock, Chem. Rev. 102 (2002) 145;
- (b) R.R. Schrock, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (2001) 2541.
- [5] M.A. Sierra, Chem. Rev. 100 (2000) 3591.
- [6] (a) R.D. Adams, B. Captain, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 4521;
 - (b) M.P. Doyle, T. Ren, Prog. Inorg. Chem. 49 (2001) 113;
 - (c) A.E. Martell, J. Perutka, D. Kong, Coord. Chem. Rev. 216–217 (2001) 55;
 - (d) J.C. Qin, A. Gavrilova, B. Bosnich, Pure Appl. Chem. 73 (2001) 221;
 - (e) K. Severin, Chem. Eur. J. 8 (2002) 1514;
 - (f) E.K. Van Den Beuken, B.L. Feringa, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 12985;
 - (g) P. Braunstain, J. Rosè, in: P. Braunstain, L.A. Oro, P.R. Raithby (Eds.), Metal Cluster in Chemistry, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 1999, p. 616.
- [7] J.R. Matachek, R.J. Angelici, K.A. Schugart, K.J. Haller, R.F. Fenske, Organometallics 3 (1984) 1038.
- [8] (a) P.M. Maitlis, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 4366;
 (b) M. Akita, H. Musashi, S. Nakanishi, Y. Moro-oka, J. Organomet. Chem. 617–618 (2001) 254;
 (c) M. Akita, R. Hua, S.A.R. Knox, Y. Moro-oka, S. Nakanishi, M.I. Yates, J. Organomet. Chem. 569 (1998) 71;
 (d) M. Akita, R. Hua, S. Nakanishi, M. Tanaka, Y. Moro-oka, Organometallics 16 (1997) 5572;
 (e) M.D. Butts, R.B. Bergmann, Organometallics 13 (1994) 2668;
- (f) S.A.R. Knox, J. Organomet. Chem. 250 (1990) 255.
 [9] See for example: (a) F.G.A. Stone, in: U. Shubert (Ed.), Advances in Metal Carbene Chemistry, Kluwer Academic Publisher,
 - Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1989, p. 11; (b) S.J. Dossett, A.F. Hill, J.C. Jeffery, F. Marken, P. Sherwood,
 - F.G.A. Stone, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1988) 2453; (c) T.V. Ashworth, J.A.K. Howard, M. Laguna, F.G.A. Stone, J.
 - Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans (1980) 1593;
 - (d) M.E. Garcia, J.C. Jeffery, P. Sherwood, F.G.A. Stone, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1987) 1209;

(e) L. Busetto, J.C. Jeffery, R.M. Mills, F.G.A. Stone, M.J. Went,
P. Woodward, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1983) 1331;
(f) P.M. Maitlis, A. Hill, Inorg. Chim. Acta 358 (2005) 1345.

- [10] G.P. Elliott, J.A.K. Howard, T. Mise, C.M. Numm, F.G.A. Stone, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 25 (1986) 190.
- [11] J. Chen, R. Wang, Coord. Chem. Rev. 231 (2002) 109.
- [12] (a) C.P. Casey, P.C. Vosejpka, M. Crocker, J. Organomet. Chem. 394 (1990) 339;
 (b) C.P. Casey, M. Crocker, P.C. Vosejpka, P.J. Fagan, S.R.
 - Marder, M.A. Gohdes, Organometallics 7 (1988) 670; (c) C.P. Casey, P.J. Fagan, W.H. Miles, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104 (1982) 1134;
 - (d) C.P. Casey, P.J. Fagan, W.H. Miles, S.R. Marder, J. Mol. Catal. 21 (1983) 173.
- [13] (a) C.P. Casey, M.W. Meszaros, P.J. Fagan, R.K. Bly, S.R. Marder, E.A. Austin, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108 (1986) 4043;
 (b) C.P. Casey, P.J. Fagan, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104 (1982) 4950.
- [14] M.H. Quick, R.J. Angelici, Inorg. Chem. 20 (1981) 1123.
- [15] (a) S. Willis, R.A. Manning, F.S. Stephens, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1980) 186;
 (b) G. Cox, C. Dowling, A.R. Manning, P. Mc Ardle, D.
- Cunningham, J. Organomet. Chem. 438 (1992) 143. [16] N.C. Schroeder, R. Funchness, R.A. Jacobson, R.J. Angelici, Organometallics 8 (1989) 521.
- [17] L. Busetto, S. Bordoni, V. Zanotti, V.G. Albano, D. Braga, Gazz. Chim. Ital. 118 (1988) 667.
- [18] S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, C. Camiletti, V. Zanotti, V.G. Albano, M. Monari, F. Prestopino, Organometallics 16 (1997) 1224.
- [19] V.G. Albano, S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, Organometallics 14 (1995) 5455.
- [20] V. Zanotti, S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, L. Carlucci, A. Palazzi, R. Serra, V.G. Albano, M. Monari, F. Prestopino, F. Laschi, P. Zanello, Organometallics 14 (1995) 5232.
- [21] V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, C. Camiletti, C. Castellari, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1997) 4671.
- [22] (a) V.G. Albano, S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, C. Camiletti, M. Monari, A. Palazzi, F. Prestopino, V. Zanotti, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1997) 4665;
 (b) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, C. Camiletti, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 563 (1988) 153;

(c) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 606 (2000) 163;

(d) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 649 (2002) 64;

(e) L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 358 (2005) 1204.

- [23] V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, L. Carlucci, M.C. Cassani, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 488 (1995) 133.
- [24] V.G. Albano, S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, C. Camiletti, M. Monari, F. Prestopino, V. Zanotti, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1996) 3693.
- [25] (a) V.G. Albano, S. Bordoni, D. Braga, L. Busetto, L. Busetto, A. Palazzi, V. Zanotti, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 30 (1991) 847;
 (b) C. D. La in F. Maran, W. Zanotti, Lean Olivier, Astronomy 2020.

(b) S. Bordoni, F. Mazza, V. Zanotti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 223 (1994) 31.

- [26] L. Busetto, M.C. Cassani, V. Zanotti, V.G. Albano, D. Braga, J. Organomet. Chem. 415 (1991) 395.
- [27] (a) L. Busetto, L. Carlucci, V. Zanotti, V.G. Albano, M. Monari, Chem. Ber. 125 (1992) 1125;
 (b) M. Bassi, L. Carlucci, V. Zanotti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 204

(1993) 171. [28] (a) Th. Lehotkay, P. Jaitner, K. Wurst, F.R. Kreißl, J. Organo-

(b) Th. Lehotkay, K. Wurst, P. Jaitner, F.R. Kreißl, J. Organo-

met. Chem. 553 (1998) 103.

- [29] (a) E. Despagnet, K. Miqueu, H. Gornitzka, P.W. Dyer, D. Bourissou, G. Bertrand, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124 (2002) 11834;
 (b) N. Merceron-Saffon, H. Gornitzka, A. Baceiredo, G. Bertrand, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 1431.
- [30] D. Bourissou, G. Bertrand, Adv. Organomet. Chem. 44 (1999) 175.
- [31] S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, M.C. Cassani, A. Palazzi, V. Zanotti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 291 (1999) 333.
- [32] R. Aumann, H. Nienaber, Adv. Organomet. Chem. 41 (1997) 163.
- [33] (a) K.S. Chan, W.D. Wulff, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108 (1986) 5229; (b) K.S. Chan, M.L. Yeung, W.-K. Chan, R.-J. Wang, T.C. Mak, J. Org. Chem. 60 (1995) 1741; (c) J. Barluenga, F. Aznar, S. Barluenga, A. Martín, S. García-Granda, E. Martín, Synlett (1998) 473; (d) A. de Meijere, L. Wessjohann, Synlett (1990) 20; (e) K.L. Faron, W.D. Wulff, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112 (1990) 6419; (f) F. Camps, J.M. Moretó, S. Ricart, J.M. Viñas, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. (1991) 1470; (g) K.H. Dötz, W. Kuhn, G. Müller, B. Huber, H.G. Alt, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 25 (1986) 812; (h) K.H. Dötz, R. Noack, K. Harms, G. Müller, Tetrahedron 46 (1990) 1235; (i) B.A. Anderson, W.D. Wulff, T.S. Powers, S. Tribbitt, A.L. Rheingold, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992) 10784; (j) H. Adam, T. Albrecht, J. Sauer, Tetrahedron Lett. 35 (1994) 557.
- [34] L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, Inorg. Chim. Acta 358 (2005) 1469.
- [35] (a) R. Aumann, B. Jasper, R. Fröhlich, Organometallics 14 (1995) 3173;
 (b) A. Rahm, W.D. Wulff, A.L.R. Rheingold, Organometallics 12 (1993) 597;
 (c) M. Duetsch, F. Stein, R. Lackmann, E. Pohl, R. Herbst-Irmer, A. de Meijere, Chem. Ber. 125 (1992) 2051;
 (d) F. Stein, M. Duetsch, E. Pohl, R. Herbst-Irmer, A. de Meijere, Organometallics 12 (1993) 2556.
- [36] V.G. Albano, S. Bordoni, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 684 (2003) 37.
- [37] L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, E. Zoli, J. Organomet. Chem. 690 (2005) 348.
- [38] (a) W.A. Herrmann, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 41 (2002) 1290;
 - (b) V. Cesar, S. Bellemin-Laponnaz, L.H. Gade, Chem. Soc. Rev. 33 (2004) 619;
 - (c) C.M. Crudden, D.P. Allen, Coord. Chem. Rev. 248 (2004) 2247;
 - (d) E. Peris, R.H. Crabtree, Coord. Chem. Rev. 248 (2004) 2239.
- [39] (a) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, Organometallics 22 (2003) 1326;
 (b) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, S.
- Zacchini, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 528. [40] (a) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, S.
- (b) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, Organometallics 23 (2004) 3348;
 (b) V.G. Albano, L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, M. Monari, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, J. Organomet. Chem. 690 (2005) 837.
- [41] (a) R.E. Colborn, A.F. Dyke, S.A.R. Knox, K.A. Mcpherson, A.G. Orpen, J. Organomet. Chem. 239 (1982) C15;
 (b) A. Eisenstadt, A. Efraty, Organometallics 1 (1982) 1100;
 (c) P.Q. Adams, D.L. Davies, A.F. Dyke, S.A.R. Knox, K.A. Mead, P. Woodward, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1983) 222;
 (d) R.E. Colborn, D.L. Davies, A.F. Dyke, S.A.R. Knox, K.A. Mead, A.G. Orpen, J.E. Guerchais, J. Roué, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. (1989) 1799;
 (e) M. Akita, R. Hua, S. Nakanishi, M. Tanaka, Y. Moro-oka,
 - Organometallics 16 (1997) 5572; (f) B.D. Rowsell, R. McDonald, M.J. Ferguson, M. Cowie, Organometallics 22 (2003) 2944;

(g) J. Kaneko, T. Suzuki, K. Isobe, P.M. Maitlis, J. Organomet. Chem. 554 (1998) 155.

[42] (a) A.F. Dyke, S.A.R. Knox, P.J. Naish, G.E. Taylor, J. Chem. Soc., Chem.Commun. (1980) 803;

(b) C.E. Sumner, J.A. Collier, R. Pettit, Organometallics 1 (1982) 1350;

(c) D. Navarre, A. Parlier, H. Rudler, J. Organomet. Chem. 322 (1987) 103;

(d) C.P. Casey, G.P. Niccolai, Organometallics 13 (1994) 2527.

- [43] L. Busetto, F. Marchetti, S. Zacchini, V. Zanotti, Organometallics 24 (2005) 2297.
- [44] (a) H. Fischer, F.R. Kreissl, U. Schubert, P. Hoffman, K.H. Dotz, K. Weiss, in: Transition Metal Carbene Complexes, VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 1983;

(b) C.G. Kreiter, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 7 (1968) 390;
(c) C.P. Casey, R.L. Anderson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96 (1974) 1230;

(d) C.P. Casey, W.R. Brunsvold, J. Organomet. Chem. 118 (1976) 309;

(e) C.F. Bernasconi, Chem. Soc. Rev. 26 (1997) 299;

(f) V. Plantevin, A. Wojcicki, J. Organomet. Chem. 689 (2004) 2000.

[45] (a) A. Rabier, N. Lugan, R. Mathieu, G.L. Geoffroy, Organometallics 13 (1994) 4676;
(1) A. B. Li, J. M. L. B. M. this, J. O. Start, Classific and C

(b) A. Rabier, N. Lugan, R. Mathieu, J. Organomet. Chem. 617-618 (2001) 681;

(c) L. Lattuada, E. Licandro, S. Maiorana, H. Molinari, A. Papagni, Organometallics 10 (1991) 807.